SUPREME COURT NO. COURT OF APPEALS NO. 86163-8-I Case #: 1035098

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

State of Washington, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

Owen Gale Ray, Defendant/Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Timothy Ashcraft, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael Austin Stewart Dena Alo-Colbeck Attorneys for Petitioner 1105 Tacoma Avenue South Tacoma, WA 98402 253.383.5346

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Owen Ray, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision denying his appeal, designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of two issues in the September 3, 2024 decision denying his appeal. First, Petitioner asks the Court to determine a definition of "exigent circumstances" within the privacy statute and, second, to resolve a split between the divisions regarding a double jeopardy issue. A copy of the Court's unpublished opinion is attached. Appendix at 1. This petition for review is timely.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the video of the Ray children taken in the rear of a patrol car without their knowledge fell under an exigency exception to the privacy act. 2. Whether Mr. Ray's convictions for second degree assault and felony harassment based on the same conduct violated his double jeopardy rights.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

On December 26, 2020, Colonel Owen Ray suffered a mental health breakdown due to undiagnosed post-traumatic stress disorder incurred over 24 years of military service. He wanted to end his life. Mr. Ray had deployed eight times to combat zones between 2003 and 2020, half of those since 2015, and was posted to high pressure assignments, including aide to the President of the United States, when not deployed. RP 1319.

On the night of his breakdown, Mr. Ray consistently threatened suicide, to his wife and children, and later to police who surrounded the home. RP 216, 254. Mr. Ray's wife, K.R.,

¹ References to the verbatim report of proceedings are contained in Mr. Ray's Appeal below. This overview is intended to familiarize the Court with the underlying facts: a more complete discussion is in Mr. Ray's Opening Brief below.

in calls to 911, claimed she also feared for hers and the children's lives. RP 307.

Mr. Ray spent much of his career in the United States Army in combat deployments that took him worlds away from his family, frayed family ties, and wore him down as a soldier, a husband, and a father. RP 1345. Mr. Ray's story illuminates a larger problem within the military, where seeking help for mental health issues continues to be a career-ending move. RP 1096.

What is more, commanding officers like Colonel Ray are rarely able to take leave. RP 1267-8. Even over Christmas 2020, while ostensibly on leave, the colonel was directing the COVID response as chief of staff at Joint Base Lewis McCord (JBLM). The army presented the job in response to Mr. Ray's request to retire to save his marriage and family. SuppCP 981. The move, however, ultimately separated Mr. Ray from core support within his former Special Forces team, further exacerbating his condition. RP 562, SuppCP 981. On the night of December 26, 2020 Mr. Ray was preparing his guns for the firing range with "dry fire" practice, a drill that morphed, as had often happened in recent years, into a suicide rehearsal. RP 1347-8. K.R. would later testify her husband sounded "crazy," talking to himself and yelling into the air. RP 1348, 580, 658. Telling her husband that she was going to call 911, K.R. retired upstairs, followed by Mr. Ray. RP 1350.

When K.R. placed the 911 call, Mr. Ray knew that life as he had known it was gone forever. RP 1350-51. The authorities being alerted to Mr. Ray's suicidal ideations would spell an end to his career, his identity, and the means by which he supported his family. Police soon surrounded the house with flashing lights and spotlights; K.R. and the children exited a few minutes later. RP 230. They were immediately transported several blocks away from any potential danger. RP 500. Once away from the house and out of range of any possible danger, police spoke to K.R. outside of the patrol car, and the Ray children processed the traumatic events of the evening and their reactions thereto while inside the car, unaware that the vehicle's recorder was running. RP 893.

Mr. Ray was discernably suicidal all evening, repeatedly appearing on the home's balcony holding a gun to his head. RP 214, 287, 398, 343, 345-48, 354, 360, 364. After speaking to a negotiator for about 90 minutes, he surrendered. RP 377-86.

In the aftermath of the incident, Mr. Ray was diagnosed with chronic severe PTSD, depression, and alcohol use disorder by seven independent agencies. SuppCP 1, 983-4, RP 542, 544-5, 556-7, 730-31, 810. Mr. Ray had substantial combat and combat related injuries: Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) from explosives and concussions, insomnia, tinnitus, myriad injuries causing chronic physical pain, and a pending diagnosis of Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy (CTE), which can only be confirmed in an autopsy. RP 542, CP 1.

Mr. Ray immediately and successfully completed inpatient alcohol treatment at Cascade Behavioral Health and inpatient PTSD treatment at Strong Hope. Strong Hope is an

internationally renowned organization that specifically treats veterans with PTSD. RP 544. Mr. Ray continued intensive outpatient treatment with Dr. Johnson Chang in the two years before his trial. RP 1128-29.

The State charged Mr. Ray with two counts of second degree assault, one count of reckless endangerment, three counts of felony harassment, and one count of kidnapping. The State categorically refused to consider veteran's court, mental health court, or any plea, insisting that the only acceptable pre-trial resolution was for Mr. Ray to plead guilty as charged. SuppCP 689-90.

The trial itself was fraught; the State painted Mr. Ray as a chronic abuser who sought to lay the blame for his actions on an exaggerated accounting of mental health issues. The State's expert claimed that the events of December 26, 2020 were not caused by PTSD, rather by Mr. Ray's anger issues augmented by alcohol consumption, while the defense expert argued the case

for a PTSD-fueled breakdown during which Mr. Ray was not completely in control of his actions.

One count of second-degree assault based on allegations of physical assault of K.R. was dismissed by the Court after the State rested for lack of evidence. RP 1043. The jury acquitted Mr. Ray of two counts of felony harassment against first responders and the kidnapping charge against K.R.. Mr. Ray was convicted of one count of felony harassment and one count of second degree assault against his wife, and one misdemeanor count of reckless endangerment against his children. RP 1529-37.

The second-degree assault and felony harassment counts were both based on a single claim that Mr. Ray had pointed a gun at K.R.. RP 1558. Each charge carried a firearm enhancement based on the use of the same weapon. The enhancements are running consecutively to each other, with no good time. *Id*.

While awaiting trial, Mr. Ray was honorably discharged from the Army.

Mr. Ray's appeal to the Division II Court of Appeals was transferred to Division I due to court congestion. The defense double jeopardy argument hinged in part on Division II jurisprudence finding that second-degree assault and felony harassment based on the same conduct violated double jeopardy, and disagreeing with Division I precedent to the contrary. Division I decided the case in line with its own precedent, finding there was no double jeopardy violation in this case.

The defense and the state agreed that the question of what constituted an exigency within the purview of the Washington State Privacy Act was an issue of first impression within the state. Division I, after oral argument and supplemental briefing, declined to reach this issue, instead finding that the admission of the video tape was harmless error.

| || |||

V. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. Introduction

This case presents two issues of import to criminal justice within Washington State. First, Petitioner seeks a definition of "exigent circumstances" within the scope of the Washington State Privacy Act. This term is undefined in the Act, despite the legislature's inclusion of the exception in the statute, leaving courts without a means by which to measure whether an exception is appropriate. Other definitions of exigent circumstances utilized by the parties, including a delay in reading *Miranda* rights or warrantless law enforcement searches, are grossly imperfect analogies when applied to the Privacy Act. An Act-specific definition is needed.

Second, Petitioner asks this court to settle a split between Division I and Division II regarding whether second degree assault and felony harassment when, as here, based on the same criminal conduct, violate a defendant's double jeopardy rights. Had Mr. Ray's case remained in Division II, he would now be awaiting resentencing. But because his case was transferred to Division I, no violation was found. Citizens of Washington State have a right to consistent statewide application of the law.

2. The pre-advisement patrol car video of the Ray children violated the privacy act, was not harmless error, and should have been excluded.

i. <u>The video violated the Privacy Act.</u>

RCW 9.73.030, Washington State's privacy statute, prohibits the recording or interception of private conversations and communications without prior consent of everyone in the conversation. The primary purpose of RCW 9.73.030 is to protect "the privacy of individuals from public dissemination (even in the course of a public trial) of illegally obtained information." *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn. 2d 221, 233, 559 P. 2d 548 (1977).

There are limited exceptions to the privacy act for emergency responders. RCW 9.73.090(1)(c). Police may videotape a roadside conversation or one in a uniformed officer's

patrol vehicle without consent, provided the person being recorded is informed, on tape, of the recording. RCW 9.73.090(1)(c). The requirement may be suspended "if the person is being recorded under exigent circumstances." *Id.* "Exigent circumstances" is undefined in the statute.

The Legislature intended the in-car video exception "to provide a *very limited exception* to the restrictions on disclosure of intercepted communications." Laws of 2000, ch. 195, § 1 [Emphasis supplied]. Officers thus must "*strictly comply* with RCW 9.73.090(1)(c)." *Lewis v. Dep't of Licensing*, 157 Wn.2d 446, 465, 139 P.3d 1078 (2006) [Emphasis supplied]. Failure to do so renders recordings inadmissible. *Id*.

Neither the Privacy Act nor case law interpreting the Act have defined "exigent circumstances" with regard to the in-car video exception. The definition must be specific to Washington's privacy statute – one of the most protective in the nation. Citation to other jurisdictions would not be apt. *See, e.g., State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 199, 102 P.3d 789 (2004)("...the Washington statute, unlike similar statutes in 38 other states, tips the balance in favor of individual privacy at the expense of law enforcement's ability to gather evidence without a warrant.")

Absent a legislative definition, Courts generally give a word its ordinary, dictionary definition. *State v. Barnes*, 189 Wn.2d 492, 496, 403 P.3d 72 (2017). The Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines "exigent" as "requiring immediate aid or action."² Immediate, in turn, is defined as "occurring, acting, or accomplished without loss or interval of time : INSTANT."³

Should the Court adopt this definition for the Privacy Act, exigent circumstances should then be limited to those in which instant action must be taken that precludes proper advisement of recording. As with exigencies in other circumstances, however, the totality of the circumstances should be considered when applying this exception.

²<u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/exigent</u> (last visited Sept. 16, 2024).

³ <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/immediate</u> (last visited Sept. 16, 2024).

Below, the State argued that there was an exigency here because officers needed to immediately speak to K.R. about her husband's state of mind and the weapons in the house, thus excusing the failure to advise the Ray children that they were being recorded. The State analogized this to exigent circumstances allowing warrantless searches, where officers need not seek a warrant when "obtaining a warrant is not practical because the delay inherent in securing a warrant would compromise officer safety, facilitate escape or permit the destruction of evidence." State v. Smith, 165 Wash.2d 511, 517, 199 P.3d 386 (2009). In determining whether an exigency exists, Courts should look at the totality of the circumstances surrounding the warrantless search. Smith, 165 Wash.2d at 518, 199 P.3d 386.

The trial court analogized the exigency here to the delay of *Miranda* warnings.⁴ Courts have recognized a "public safety"

⁴ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966)

exception to *Miranda* warnings when "the need for answers to questions in a situation posing a threat to the public safety outweighs the need for the prophylactic rule protecting the Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination." *State v. Richmond*, 65 Wn. App. 541, 545 n.4, 828 P.2d 1180, 1182 (1992)(*quoting New York v. Quarles*, 467 U.S. 649, 657, 81 L. Ed. 2d 550, 104 S. Ct. 2626 (1984)).

Under the public safety exception, police may briefly delay *Miranda* warnings if there is an immediate threat to public safety – such as, in *Quarles*, where a defendant may have abandoned a loaded gun in a public supermarket. *Id*. By its terms, this exception, too, considers the totality of the circumstances. Any definition of exigency applies to the Privacy Act should similarly mandate a consideration of the totality of the circumstances approach.

Moreover, unlike either *Miranda* or the warrant process, the in-car recording warning takes mere seconds. Officers need not use specific language, simply advising occupants, "you are

being audio and video recorded," or "you are being recorded." Likewise, the advising officer need not be the operator of the patrol car but where, as here, multiple officers are present, any one of them could have given the required notification.

However, the trial court considered the need to question K.R. in a vacuum and neglected the totality of the circumstances. Petitioner asks the Court to fashion a definition of exigency within the Privacy Act that requires a view of the totality of the circumstances, and find that officers' failure to advise in this case violated the Act.

K.R. and the children were placed into the car at 12:33 a.m. RP 177. The officer immediately moved his car several blocks away and out of the line of sight of the house. RP 500. Once moved, no danger remained, and any exigency ceased. Yet no advisement of recording equipment was provided until 1:05 a.m., over half an hour later. RP 893.

Further, the very nature of the conversation here demonstrates that the children thought they were in a private

setting. They, like any other citizen in the State, were entitled to a warning that they were being recorded. The State's failure to do so in this instance was a violation of the Washington State Privacy Act. The video should not have been admitted.

ii. <u>Prejudice and Lack of Harmless Error</u>

Prejudice is presumed if a video was erroneously admitted: "Failure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the act is prejudicial unless, within reasonable probability, the erroneous admission of the evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the trial." *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 200, 102 P.3d 789 (2004).

The Court below found that it did not need to reach the question of exigent circumstances because even if the video was admitted in error, any error was harmless. Under the harmless error analysis, reversal is mandated if there is a reasonable probability that the error materially affected the trial outcome. *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981).

Petitioner disagrees with the appellate court's conclusion, as the video of the distraught children processing the events and their emotions was extremely prejudicial to his case.

The State initially sought introduction of the video to establish the fear element of the kidnapping charge with regard to the children even though the children were not alleged to be victims of the kidnapping charge. RP 883. The trial court in response "focused on the fear element of kidnapping" when redacting the tape. RP 884-85, 919- 923, 1021-22, 1026. Yet, the State did not tie the children's fear on the video tape to the kidnapping charge when introducing the video to the jury.

The State instead used the video in lieu of live testimony of the children as evidence that Mr. Ray pointed the gun at his family in furtherance of the assault charge, evidence that was already in the record via K.R.'s testimony. RP 1446-7. The State also showed the video to the jury at the commencement of their closing argument, and quoted extensively from the video during closing. RP 1498. The State used the video to arouse the jurors'

emotions, especially during closing, where the State claimed that Mr. Ray intended to terrorize his family on December 26, 2020, and his diminished capacity defense was a ploy to escape responsibility for his actions.

The redactions were insufficient to mitigate the incredibly prejudicial nature of the video of distraught children processing their emotions in the middle of the night while their mother was outside of the car speaking to officers, their home remained surrounded by police officers, and their father remained inside, at risk of injury or death. In short, the children's world had just crumbled. Viewing this crumbling world was designed to evoke an emotional response from the jury. Worse, the redactions removed context behind the children's tears, as argued below.

The appellate court found the error harmless because K.R. testified that the children were "screaming" and "hysterical," and so this evidence was already before the jury. However, absent the videotape, there is no testimony from the children. No evidence of the children's statements, feelings, or thoughts would have

been presented to the jury by the children, only through secondhand testimony of their mother. The State, understanding this, sought the stunning impact of the videotape of the upset, crying children.

The admission of K.R.'s impressions of the children's mental states is far less compelling than video of sobbing, terrified children. The video placed the jury in the car with the children immediately after the incident, observers to everything that they said and felt. The children were not seen at trial; their reaction to the incident was witnessed only through the video, used by the State to play on the jury's prejudices and passions.

It cannot be said with reasonable certainty that the outcome of the trial would have been the same absent the use of a videotape of the Ray children crying and discussing not just their fears, but also the facts that the State depended upon to bolster K.R.'s testimony, in a very private moment. While it is true that K.R. was allowed to testify about the children's state of mind, secondhand testimony does not and cannot compare with

the emotional impact of the videotape of the children crying and talking in the immediate wake of their father's mental breakdown. The video was extremely prejudicial and, absent exigent circumstances, was admitted in violation of the privacy act.

Petitioner asks this Court to find that the video was prejudicial, admitted in error, and that Mr. Ray should be granted a new trial.

3. <u>Mr. Ray's convictions for second degree assault and</u> <u>felony harassment based on the same conduct violated his</u> <u>double jeopardy rights.</u>

The state may bring multiple charges arising from the same criminal conduct in a single proceeding. *State v. Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d 765, 770, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). However, state and federal constitutional protections against double jeopardy prohibit multiple punishments for the same offense. *State v. Vladovic*, 99 Wash.2d 413, 422, 662 P.2d 853 (1983); WASH. CONST. art. I, § 9; U.S. CONST. amend. VI. Two crimes

constitute the same offense for double jeopardy purposes if they are the same in both fact and law. *State v. Calle*, 125 Wash.2d 769, 777, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

Washington Courts have well-established criteria for determining double jeopardy violations. First, the court examines whether the legislature intended to authorize multiple punishments for an act that supports charges under two separate criminal statutes. *In re Borrero*, 161 Wn.2d 532, 536, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007). The legislature may specifically authorize cumulative punishments for crimes. *State v. Esparza*, 135 Wash.App. 54, 60, 143 P.3d 612 (2006). If the legislative intent is unclear, the Court then looks at the elements of the crimes. The court cannot find the crimes are the same offense if each crime has an element that the other does not. *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180 (1932).

In this case, the charge of second-degree assault as to K.R. based upon a physical assault was dismissed at halftime for lack of evidence. This left only the charge of second degree assault based on allegations that Mr. Ray instilled fear by pointing a gun at K.R., which are the same facts relied upon by the State to prove felony harassment based on the allegation that Mr. Ray instilled fear in K.R. by pointing a gun at her.

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