FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/29/2024 3:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103509-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

OWEN GALE RAY,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Timothy Ashcraft

No. 20-1-03059-9

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Ray's petition for review presents two fact-intensive questions. One issue was never reached by the court of appeals. The other was resolved consistently with existing published case law. Ray's petition for review should be denied because this court will not address arguments that are unnecessary to a just

resolution of a case and conflicting unpublished court of appeals opinions do not satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2).

A. Existing Case Law Provides Ample Guidance Regarding the Undefined Phrase "Exigent Circumstances" in the Privacy Act.

When resolution of a claim requires the appellate court to answer two or more questions, the court may address the questions in any order. If the issue may be resolved on harmlessness or absence of prejudice, the appellate court need not also address whether an error did occur. See, e.g., Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) (observing that, as to the two requirements essential to support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, deficient performance and prejudice, "if it is easier to dispose of [the] claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed"); State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (resolving appeal solely on the prejudice prong of CrR 8.3(b) without reaching the government misconduct prong). These cases are consistent with this court's rule that it ordinarily will not address arguments which are unnecessary to the just resolution of the case. *See e.g.*, *Fields v. Dept of Early Learning*, 193 Wn.2d 36, 41 n.1, 434 P.3d 999 (2019); *In re Pers. Restraint of Lile*, 100 Wn.2d 224, 230, 668 P.2d 581 (1983).

Ray's petition for review asks this court to violate the rule and to render an advisory opinion on what constates exigent circumstances for purposes of RCW 9.73.090(1)(c). The court of appeals did not resolve the question of exigent circumstances because even assuming "the trial court erred in admitting the recording, the error was harmless." *Ray*, 2024 WL 4025999 at * 5. Ray's request should be rejected on two grounds.

----, ----, <u>----</u>

1. If it was error to admit the dashcam video, the error was harmless.

First the court of appeals' determination that the admission of the video was harmless is correct. Admission of evidence in violation of the privacy act is a statutory, not a constitutional violation. *State v. Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980); *State v. Courtney*, 137 Wn. App. 376, 383, 153 P.3d

238 (2007). Nonconstitutional error only requires reversal when the defendant satisfies his burden of showing, within reasonable probabilities, that had the error not occurred the outcome of the trial would have been materially different. *See, e.g., State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 317-18, 352 P.3d 161 (2015); *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Ray has not met this burden.

The admissible evidence before the jury included three 9-1-1 recordings. One of the recordings allowed the jury to hear for itself how terrified the two younger children were of their father on December 26th. *See* Ex. 35 (children crying and shouting "Dad, Please don't hurt us," "I don't want to die," and "please don't hurt her."). The other recording captures the brave older sister fearfully describing the situation, with screams from her sister's bedroom occasionally heard in the background. *See* Ex. 37.

The dashcam video was cumulative to the contemporaneous 9-1-1 recordings, belying Ray's claim that the

only direct evidence of the children's reaction to Ray's violent acts came from the video. *See* Petition for Review at 19. And the jury did not view the video until after it heard the 911 recordings. *Compare* RP 423-25 (Exs. 33 and 35, K.R.'s 9-1-1 calls, published on September 13, 2022) and RP 1009 (Ex. 37, L.R.'s 9-1-1 call, published morning of September 19, 2022), *with* RP 1026 (dash cam video published the afternoon of September 19, 2022).

Ray has not lodged the same objections to the 9-1-1 tapes that he has to the video. Ray does not claim that the 9-1-1 recordings were only offered to "play on the jury's prejudices or passions." Petition for Review at 19. He does not contend that the 9-1-1 tapes were unlikely to elicit an emotional response from the jurors. Nor does Ray claim that the 9-1-1 recordings precluded the jurors from following their instruction to "not let their emotions overcome your rational thought process." CP 384. Ray, therefore, fails to impeach the court of appeal's

determination that if any error occurred from the admission of the dashcam video it was harmless.

Ray seeks to avoid this conclusion by raising a quasi-hearsay/confrontation clause objection. *See* Petition for Review at 17-19 (complaining that the children did not present live testimony at trial). The trial court, however, admitted the video and the 9-1-1 recordings over Ray's hearsay and confrontation clause objections and Ray did not challenge those rulings in the appellate court. RP 886-67, 900. He cannot renew these objections in this court. *See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Tobin*, 165 Wn.2d 172, 175 n. 1, 196 P.3d 670 (2008) (supreme court will not consider issues that were not raised in the court of appeals).

Ray, moreover, cites to nothing in the record in support of his speculation that the State would call the children as witnesses rather than rely solely on the 9-1-1 recordings if the dashcam video was excluded. And to the extent Ray's prejudice argument strays from the absence of exigent circumstances to a complaint

regarding the court's ER 403 redactions to the video, Ray was free to call the children in his case if he thought their testimony would support his reconstructed version of events. *See* RP 571 ("Hard to reconstruct this exactly because [Ray's] memory is awfully impaired of this"); RP 1375 (Ray only remembers shards and bits and pieces of the incident and he only "know[s] what was recorded on the 9-1-1 recording"). Ray's petition for review should be denied.

2. A robust body of law provides ample guidance regarding the interpretation of the phrase "exigent circumstances" in the privacy act.

Ray acknowledges that he is asking this court to review the trial court's exigent circumstances determination. Petition for Review at 13-14. This court rarely grants direct review of a superior court decision and none of the grounds for taking this extraordinary step are present in this case. *See* RAP 4.2(a). Because the existence of exigent circumstances will always be a fact intensive question and existing case law provides ample

guidance to the superior court of the legal standard to be applied to the facts there is no need for this court to intervene.

Ray acknowledges in this court⁴ that absent a statutory definition for the term "exigent circumstances" in the privacy act, the phrase is given its ordinary dictionary definition. *See* Petition for Review at 12 (citing *State v. Barnes*, 189 Wn.2d 492, 496, 403 P.3d 72 (2017)). The State wholeheartedly agrees with this well-established rule. *See* Brief of Respondent at 26 (citing *Barnes*). Additional case law holds that when a phrase used in a statute has a well-understood legal meaning, courts assign the familiar legal term its familiar legal meaning. *StarKist Company v. State*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 83, 94, 522 P.3d 594 (2023).

Both dictionary definitions and case law construing the phrase "exigent circumstances," establish that the court must consider the totality of the circumstances. *See generally State v*.

⁴ Ray's court of appeals brief merely noted that "'[e]xigent circumstances' is undefined," Appellant's Opening Brief at 39-40, without providing any argument on how the phrase should be interpreted.

Smith, 165 Wn.2d 511, 518, 199 P.3d 386 (2009) (courts determine exigent circumstance justifying whether an warrantless search existed by looking at the totality of the situation in which the circumstance arose); State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 827-30, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) (courts determine whether the public safety exception to Miranda justified a delay in tendering the warnings by looking at the totality of the circumstances); Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary: circumstance⁵ ("the sum of essential and environmental factors (as of an event or situation)"). The trial court did this before rendering its decision regarding the dashcam video. See generally RP 886-901, 919-21.

Ray's objection is not that the trial court applied the wrong definition to the facts—it is that the trial court did not give the weight to certain facts that Ray would prefer. Specifically, Ray

⁵ Available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/circumstances last visited Oct. 28, 2024).

contends that because the notice of recording requires no set language and "takes mere seconds," it was error to find exigent circumstances. Petition for Review at 14-15. But these two factors will always be present and if, as Ray requests, they will always control whether a delay in providing notice that the dashcam is recording is allowable, the phrase "exigent circumstances" in RCW 9.73.090(1)(c) is rendered surplusage. This violates a cardinal principle of statutory interpretation: that statutes are to be construed so no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant. *See, e.g., State v. Garza*, 200 Wn.2nd 449, 456-57, 518 P.3d 1029 (2022); *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 147-48, 493 P.3d 94 (2021).

Here, the trial court balanced a variety of facts, mostly derived from the testimony of the officers at the command center and the officers surrounding Ray's home, RP 893, before concluding that the 16 minute delay⁶ between arriving at the

 $^{^6}$ Compare Ex. 44 at 48:32 with Ex. 44 at 1:05:06.

command center and notice of recording being given to the children was not inappropriate given the on-going emergency. Many reasonable judges would reach the same conclusion. Ray's petition for review should be denied because even if one assumes Ray could satisfy his burden of demonstrating that the outcome of the trial would likely have been different if the video had been excluded, this case does not lend itself to the announcement of a new rule that will be applicable to other cases.

B. The Court's Resolution of Ray's Double Jeopardy Claim is Consistent with the Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals

Ray was convicted of both second degree assault with a firearm and with felony harassment. The harassment charge was supported by both verbal threats and Ray's aiming a firearm at K.R. The assault charge was supported by Ray pointing a firearm at K.R. four separate times, one of which occurred after Ray broke down the bedroom door to regain access to K.R. Because Ray did not assert a double jeopardy claim until appeal, the trial court was denied an opportunity to craft instructions that

would ensure the jury relied on different facts to support both convictions. Ray, however, did not benefit from his sandbagging because the assault and the harassment statutes address separate ills.

Ray requests that this court grant review of the denial of his double jeopardy claim pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).⁷ His request should be denied because the court of appeals opinion is consistent with the published court of appeals decisions and a conflict with another unpublished opinion does not satisfy the plain language of RAP 13.4(b)(2).

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only*:

. . .

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a *published* decision of the Court of Appeals;

[Emphasis added.]

⁷ RAP 13.4(b)(2) provides that:

The legislature has near plenary power to define criminal conduct and assign punishment for such conduct. This power extends to authorizing multiple convictions arising from the same conduct, each of which may be punished separately. The only constitutional limitation on the punishment that may be exacted resides in the Eighth Amendment and Wash. Const. article I, § 14, not the Double Jeopardy Clause. See generally Missouri v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S. Ct. 673, 74 L. Ed. 2d 535 (1983) ("With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended."); State v. Kelley, 168 Wn.2d 72, 77, 226 P.3d 773 (2010) (same).

As a rule, the Washington Legislature has elected to limit the consequences of multiple convictions arising out of the same criminal act instead of prohibiting multiple convictions arising from a single act. *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 781-82, 888 P.2d 155 (1995); RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) (treat crimes that require

the same criminal intent, the same victim, and that are committed at the same time and place as one crime for purposes of the offender score). A defendant who claims that this general principle does not apply in his case must satisfy a four-step test. *State v. Heng*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 717, 731, 512 P.3d 942 (2022), *aff'd*, 2 Wn.3d 384, 539 P.3d 13 (2023). If legislative intent to allow cumulative punishments can be found in any of the four steps of the analysis, the defendant's double jeopardy challenge fails. *State v. Arndt*, 194 Wn.2d 784, 818, 453 P.3d 696 (2019).

The *Ray* court applied all four steps of the double jeopardy analysis. Its decision on the first three steps of the analysis was consistent with that of *State v. Lemming*, 133 Wn. App. 875, 888, 138 P.3d 1095 (2006). *See Ray*, 2024 WL 4025999 at * 10. As for the fourth step of the analysis—whether the two offenses serve different purposes, the court, after noting that *Lemming* did not address this point, held, consistent with the other published opinion, that the legislature established the crimes to serve different purposes. *See Ray*, 2024 WL 4025999 at * 11-13,

quoting *State v. Mandanas*, 163 Wn. App. 712, 262 P.3d 522 (2011). While *Mandanas* resolved the double jeopardy question differently than *Lemming*, it did not "conflict" with *Lemming* as *Lemming* was silent on this point. *See Ray*, 2024 WL 4025999 at *11.

The *Mandanas* determination that assault and harassment serve different purposes is supported by the historical record. Assault and harassment are in different chapters of the Revised Code of Washington. Assault in the second degree, RCW 9A.36.021 is in a chapter intended to protect against the social evil that occurs when one person intentionally physically attacks and injures another. See Chapter 9A.36 RCW ("Assault— Physical Harm"). Although the current second-degree assault with deadly weapon statute only dates to 2011, the crime of assault with a deadly weapon dates to territorial days and the offense was included in the 1975 enactment of the modern criminal code. See Laws of 2011, ch. 166, §1 (current version of the statute); Laws of 1975 1st ex. sess., ch. 260, §

9A.36.020(1)(c) (Washington criminal code); Code of 1881, § 807 (assault with a deadly weapon).

Harassment, RCW 9A.46.020, is in a different chapter that was first adopted in 1985. *See* Laws of 1985, ch. 288, § 2. The creation of the crime of harassment, long after Washington criminalized assault and its placement in a different chapter, establishes that it serves a different purpose than the crime of assault. And the legislative findings clearly state that different purpose--the harassment chapter was adopted to address acts "designed to coerce, intimidate, or humiliate the victim." RCW 9A.46.010.

This case, moreover, is factually different from *Lemming*. In *Lemming* the defendant made a single death threat to the victim while pushing her against the wall and then left the location. 133 Wn. App. at 879-80. Ray pointed the firearm at K.R. four times, breaking a door down to reach her the third time. Because Ray engaged in the same conduct four times—separate incidents could have supported the guilty verdicts for both

harassment and assault. Ray's petition for review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

Ray has not made the case for further review. Existing precedent was properly applied by the court of appeals. Ray's petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4,450 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.